

BYLAWS
American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE)
San Diego State University

ARTICLE I NAME

Section 1 The name of this organization shall be the American Society of Civil Engineers at San Diego State University. The American Society of Civil Engineers was founded November 5th1852.

ARTICLE II PURPOSE

Section 1 The purposes of this organization are advance student knowledge of Civil Engineering and improve the practice of civil engineering.

ARTICLE III AUTHORITY

Section 1 This organization is a recognized student organization at San Diego State University and adheres to all campus policies as set forth in the *SDSU Student Organization Handbook*.

Section 2 This organization is affiliated with American Society of Civil Engineers and adheres to the American Society of Civil Engineers Bylaws.

Section 3 This organization may establish Standing Rules to govern administrative and procedural matters (such as time and location of meetings, etc.). Standing Rules shall not conflict with these bylaws. Standing Rules may be adopted, amended, or temporarily suspended by a majority vote present at an organization meeting where a quorum is present (advance notice is not required).

Section 4 The rules contained in the most recent version of *Robert's Rules of Order, Newly Revised* shall be the parliamentary authority for this organization and shall govern in all cases to which they are applicable and in which they are not inconsistent with these bylaws and any special rules of order the organization may adopt.

ARTICLE IV MEMBERSHIP

Section 1 Membership in the organization shall be open to those regularly-enrolled at San Diego State University.

Section 2 Eligibility for membership or appointed or elected student officer positions may not be limited on the basis of race, religion, national origin, ethnicity, color, age, gender, gender identity, marital status, citizenship, sexual orientation, or disability. The organization shall have no rules or policies that discriminate on the basis of race, religion, national origin, ethnicity, color, age, gender, gender identity, marital status, citizenship, sexual orientation, or disability.

ARTICLE V OFFICERS

Section 1 The officers of the organization shall be the President, Internal Vice President, External Vice President, Treasurer and Secretary.

Section 2 **Powers and Duties of Officers:**

a. The President shall serve as the chief executive officer of the organization, shall preside at all of the organization events and shall prepare the agenda for meetings. The President shall be the official spokesperson of the organization, representing the policies, views, and opinions of the organization in its relations with the campus and community at large. The President shall appoint all committees and committee chairs. The President shall have such further powers and duties as may be prescribed by the organization.

b. The External Vice President shall preside at organization meetings in the absence of the President. The External Vice President shall perform all legal duties assigned by the President. The External Vice President is responsible for overseeing all fundraising and sponsorship operations. Expected to communicate with yearly sponsors and ensure the sponsorship agreements are met. In addition, the External Vice President will oversee all outreach and philanthropic operations and all events/projects off campus.

c. The Internal Vice President shall preside at organization meetings in the absence of the President. The Internal Vice President shall perform all legal duties assigned by the President. The Internal Vice President is responsible for planning and organizing Professional Development Days and the scheduling of guest speakers. In addition, the Internal Vice President oversees events/projects within the school.

d. In the case the President is relieved of his duties, the External or Internal Vice Presidents shall take over the President position by volunteering for it. If both officers volunteer, the position shall be decided by the majority vote of the remaining officer board.

e. The Treasurer shall handle all financial affairs and budgeting of the organization, maintain all necessary accounting records, and prepare monthly financial reports for the membership. Said records shall be maintained in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The Treasurer shall collect and deposit all dues and fees. The Treasurer shall maintain bank accounts in the organization's name, requiring signatures of both the Treasurer and President for authorized disbursements.

f. The Secretary shall take minutes at all meetings of the organization, keep these on file, and submit required copies to all organization members. The Secretary shall be responsible for all organization correspondence and shall keep copies thereof on file. The Secretary shall maintain membership records for the organization.

Section 3 Qualifications necessary to hold office in this organization are as follows: California State University policies require that to be eligible for office, candidates must be in good standing and regularly enrolled students at San Diego State University. California State University policies require that the President and Treasurer maintain a minimum overall 2.0 grade point average each term and not be on probation of any kind. The President and Treasurer must be enrolled in at least six units (three units for graduate and credential students) each semester while holding office. Undergraduate students with over 150 semester units or 125 percent of the units required for a specific baccalaureate degree objective, whichever is greater, or graduate and credential students with over 50 semester units or 167 percent of the units required for the graduate or credential objective, whichever is greater, are ineligible to hold the office of President or Treasurer. No member may hold more than one office. No member may serve more than 4 semesters in the same office.

ARTICLE VI SELECTION OF OFFICERS

Section 1 The officers are elected annually. Elections are held at the end of spring semester and shall take place at a regularly scheduled meeting of the organization at which a quorum is present. At least one week's notice shall be provided for any meeting at which an election is to be held.

Section 2 Nominations for officers shall be made at the regular meeting immediately preceding the election. Nominations may also be made from the floor immediately prior to the election for each office. Members may nominate themselves for an office.

- Section 3** The officers shall be elected in this order: President, Vice President(s), and then Treasurer. Secretary shall be elected at the last GBM of every calendar year.
- Section 4** Officers shall be elected by majority vote. If no candidate receives a majority vote, a runoff election shall be held between the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes. In the event of a tie, there shall be a revote. If the result of the revote is still a tie, the election shall be decided by the flip of a coin.
- Section 5** Votes shall be cast by secret ballot; however, when there is only one candidate for an office, a motion may be made to elect the candidate by acclamation.
- Section 6** The following officers shall be appointed by the President: CESC Representative.
- Section 7** Officers shall assume office on June 1st and shall serve for 1 year.
- Section 8** Officers may be recalled from office for cause. To initiate a recall election, a petition signed by one third of the officer board must be submitted at an officer meeting and a recall vote shall be taken at the next regular officer meeting. The officer subject to recall shall be given written notice of the recall at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at which the recall vote will be held and shall be given an opportunity to provide a defense. A two-thirds vote of the officers is required to remove an officer.
- Section 9** If the position of President becomes vacant as the result of resignation, ineligibility or recall, the Vice President shall assume the office of President. Vacancies in any other elected office shall be filled by an election held at the next regular meeting where the vacancy was announced. Nominations may be made at the meeting where the vacancy is announced, and nominations may also be made from the floor at the time of the election. The President may appoint an interim officer to fill the vacancy until the election is held.

ARTICLE VII MEETINGS

- Section 1** General Body Meetings and Officer Meetings shall be scheduled bi-weekly during the academic year.
- Section 2** Special meetings may be called by the President or a majority of the officer board. All members must be given a minimum of 24-hour notice prior to the meeting time.
- Section 3** Business cannot be conducted unless a quorum of the membership is present. A quorum for this organization is defined as a majority of the voting membership.

Section 4 Members must be present to vote. In the case that an in-person election cannot held, the voting manner shall be decided at the discretion of the President.

Section 5 In order to vote a member must be in good standing. Good standing in this organization constitutes of paying dues and being enrolled as a student at San Diego State University, while abiding with the University policy of good academic standing.

ARTICLE VIII ADVISOR(S)

Section 1 The organization shall appoint an individual employed as a faculty or staff member by San Diego State University to serve as the university advisor to this organization as required by the California State University. Auxiliary staff and student assistants are not eligible to serve as advisors. The advisor shall fulfill the responsibilities specified in the *SDSU Student Organizations Handbook*. Advisors shall serve on an academic year basis or until their successor has been selected.

ARTICLE IX EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Section 1 The Executive Committee shall consist of the elected and appointed officers, with the advisor(s) serving as non-voting member(s).

Section 2 The Executive Committee shall meet bi-weekly during the academic year. Special meetings may be called by the President or a majority of the Executive Committee. All members must be given 24-hour notice of the meeting. A quorum shall consist of a majority of the Executive Committee members.

Section 3 When necessary, Executive Committee business can be conducted via email or via online meetings.

Section 4 The Executive Committee shall have general supervision of the affairs of the organization between meetings and is authorized to take action when action must be taken prior to the next meeting.

Section 5 The Executive Committee shall report to the membership all actions taken between meetings. Except when it is too late to do so (such as when a contract has been executed), any actions taken by the Executive Committee may be rescinded or modified by the membership by a majority vote.

ARTICLE XI FINANCES

Section 1 Membership dues shall be \$20 per year.

- Section 2** Dues shall be paid by the fourth meeting of the first semester, otherwise there will be a price increase of \$10.
- Section 3** This organization has the ability to assess the membership for special purposes. Assessments shall be determined by a quorum of the membership at a regularly scheduled meeting.
- Section 4** Members who have not paid their dues or special assessments by the Due date shall be considered as not being in good standing and shall lose all membership privileges, including voting, until the dues are paid.
- Section 5** Organization funds shall not be used to purchase or reimburse members for alcoholic beverages.

ARTICE XII DISCIPLINE OF MEMBERS

- Section 1** When a member believes that another member has engaged in conduct that is detrimental to the organization, a written charge may be filed with the officer board. The officer board shall review the charges and may conduct a preliminary investigation if deemed appropriate. If the preliminary investigation concludes that misconduct appears to have occurred, the officer board shall conduct a hearing on the matter. The member alleged to have engaged in the misconduct shall be given at least 72-hour notice of the hearing and be given an opportunity to present a defense. By a majority vote, the officer board shall determine whether misconduct occurred. If it is determined that misconduct did occur, officer board shall prepare a report to the membership of its findings and recommended sanctions, which may include expulsion, suspension, or lesser sanction(s) including, but not limited to, a reprimand, removal from office, a fine or corrective remedies.
- Section 2** The membership shall review the hearing report in executive session, and the member accused of misconduct shall have an opportunity to rebut the information in the report. After providing a statement to the membership, the member accused of misconduct shall leave the room for the remainder of the deliberations.
- Section 3** The membership shall vote first on whether the member has engaged in misconduct. If by a two-thirds vote, the membership determines that misconduct has occurred, the membership shall then by a two-thirds vote, determine appropriate sanction(s). The accused member shall be immediately notified of the outcome.
- Section 4** By a two-thirds vote of the officer board, the membership may reinstate a member who has been suspended or expelled.

ARTICLE XIII AMBASSADOR PROGRAM

- Section 1** Ambassador Program will be continued annually in the efforts to expand community outreach and receive the letter of commendation.
- Section 2** Ambassadors will be selected through the application process. The application will be posted on our website prior to the school year commencing and will be open to all students.
- Section 3** Ambassador applicants will be interviewed by the board and will be selected.
- Section 4** Ambassadors will do a minimum of four presentations on Civil Engineering in the community and document all activity every year.

ARTICLE XIV AMENDMENTS

- Section 1** Proposed amendments to these bylaws shall be presented to the membership, in writing, one meeting prior to the meeting where the amendment will be voted upon.
- Section 2** Bylaw amendments require approval by two-thirds of the voting members present at a regular meeting. The amendment shall be effective immediately unless otherwise stipulated in the amendment.
- Section 3** A copy of any amendment(s) to these bylaws must be submitted to the Student Life and Leadership Office at San Diego State University within two weeks after adoption.

Executive Committee 2020-2021

President	Alan Hernandez
Vice President Internal	Rogelio Garcia
Vice President External	Luis Medina
Treasurer	Jonathan Wei
Secretary	Claire Gaborne

Officer Board 2020-2021

President	Alan Hernandez
Vice President Internal	Rogelio Garcia
Vice President External	Luis Medina
Treasurer	Jonathan Wei
Secretary	Claire Gaborne
Executive Assistant	Alex Rivera
Membership Chair	Katelyn Makavand
Outreach Chair	Jacquelin Loje
Social Events Chair	Jonathan Rivera
Fundraising Chair	Arturo Sanchez
Conference Chair	Rubisela Gonzalez
Social Media Chair	Chance McDaniel
Historian	Julio Zamora
Graphic Designer	Cole Saenz
CESC Representative	Alanna Bantigue

Advisors 2020-2021

ASCE SDSU Faculty Advisor	Dr. Janusz Supernak
ASCE SDSU Practitioner Advisor	Jeremy LaHaye, PE